COPY

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2008-CP-00917-COA

BENNIE LACEY

VS.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

STATEMENTS OF ISSUES

- I. Ineffective assistance of counsel during the habitual offender sentencing hearing
- II. Appellant's present habitual sentence is invalid because of an un-counseled and unconstitutional prior conviction.
- III. Appellant's current sentence as a habitual offender is an illegal sentence and exempt from procedural bars.
- IV. Trial court abused it's discretion by applying procedural bars to deny relief on appellant's post conviction motion.

STATEMENT OF CASE

Appellant file a post-conviction motion under Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-39-5 (1) (I) (Rev. 2000) into the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Mississippi attacking the habitual offender portion of his sentence for the sale of a controlled substance, cocaine in Cause No. 8343.

On the 8th day of May 2008, the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Mississippi entered an order denying Appellant's post-conviction motion on procedural ground being Cause No. CV-2008-54-B. This appeal stems from the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Mississippi denial of post-conviction relief. See. Exhibit (A)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant Bennie Lacey, (hereinafter known as appellant), was convicted in a jury trial on the charge of sale of cocaine. Upon his conviction, the state sought to prove that appellant was a subsequent drug offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 41-29-147, and as a habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-19-81. The trial court scheduled a hearing for the determination whether appellant was eligible for enhanced sentencing.

Appellant was represented at his trial on the principal charge and at the enhancement portion of the trial by the Honorable Mark S. Howard, (hereinafter known as trial counsel). See Exhibit (B)

During the enhancement proceeding, the state produced documents that was purported to be evidence that appellant previously had been convicted twice before in the state of Mississippi, and actually served a year or more on each conviction. The state did offer two indictments, one from 1980 for the charge of burglary/grand larceny , with an order of revocation on the charge, being Cause No. 7754. See Exhibit. (D)

Trial counsel raised no objections of the State's proffer of these documents. This was

deficient performance on the part of trial counsel, because of the fact that trial counsel had failed to investigate these documents on the supposedly prior convictions. If trial counsel would have done the required proper investigation of these prior convictions, it would have been found that the indictment in Cause No. 7754, sale of a controlled substance, was a formal charging of two persons, Adam Lacey and, a Bandigo Lacey.

Nowhere in the indictment in Cause No. 7754, did it show that Bennie Lacey, the appellant, had been indicted by the Grand Jury. Also, it would have been discovered, that someone, either in 1984, or in 1991, had taken a felt tip pen and added two AKA's to the indictment, one for a "Bendo", and the other for a "Benny E. Lacey". See Exhibit (D). Because of this, it should have raised some concern for trial counsel. As the evidence in a sentencing phase of a bifurcated trial under the habitual offender statute, the state had the same burden of proof as to the habitual offender portion of the indictment as it has on the principal charge. So that, this would have created a reasonable doubt in the trial court's mind on the validity of the indictment in Cause No 7754. See Exhibit (D).

This was clearly deficient performance on the part of trial counsel as, it denied Appellant of his due process right to have the State prove him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt of being a habitual offender. Because of the fact that trial counsel's failure to raise objection to this indictment did allow into evidence of what appears to have been a fabricated indictment, and not one returned by a Grand Jury against Bennie Lacey. This deficient performance of trial counsel did prejudice Appellant, as it did relieve the State of its duty to prove that the Bennie Lacey in the present offense, is actually the same person who was previously convicted in the prior offense.

The State understood its own deficiency in this area, and did call Marvin Farrior, sheriff

in Wayne County to the stand to testify on the part of the State that Appellant had actually spent time on both of the prior convictions in his jail. Though the sheriff admitted that he remembered Appellant being in his jail during this time on the previous convictions, he could not remember the exact date, or how much time the appellant was serving.

This deficient performance of trial counsel has caused Appellant to be prejudiced, as it has so undermined the proper functioning of the adversarial process that the sentencing phase of the bifurcated trial on the habitual offender portion of the indictment cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. Also, this deficient performance of trial counsel has undermined the correctness of the sentencing hearing.

Appellant has been denied his due process rights to the effective assistance of counsel by the fact that he failed to put the State to its burden of proof on the prior conviction for the sale of a controlled substance in Cause No. 7754. If trial counsel would have directed that court's attention to the alteration of the indictment to include the two A.K.A.'s, then the State would have had the burden to explain and prove that the indictment was actually returned by the Grand Jury. See. Exhibit (D)

It would have also raised a presumption that Appellant was not actually the so-called "Bandigo" that had been charged in the indictment. This would have tested the State's proof of the prior conviction, so that more likely than not, the trial court would have rejected out of hand the State's evidence. In doing so, the trial court would not have adjudicated Appellant as a habitual offender. Appellant has been prejudiced by the deficient performance of his trial counsel.

Appellant's prior conviction in Cause No. 7754, sale of a controlled substance, is invalid because Appellant was denied the effective assistance of counsel. Appellant had been arrested for a violation of the conditions of his probation on his conviction for burglary/Grand Larceny in

Cause No. 7528. The Honorable Stanford Young was appointed by the trial court to represent Appellant. See Exhibit ©.

Attorney Stanford Young came to the Wayne County Jail to question Appellant concerning Appellant's up-coming revocation hearing. During the discussion, he told Appellant that he should plead guilty to the charges in the revocation petition, as the court was going to violate him anyway because of his association with Adam Lacey. Appellant agreed to this advice of his attorney, and agreed to plead guilty to the revocation. Attorney Young presented a petition that he did tell Appellant that he needed to sign for the purpose of the revocation hearing. Appellant signed the printed form. See Exhibit (E) (F) (G) (H).

On the 19th day of January, 1984, Appellant appeared in the Circuit Court of Wayne County, Mississippi, in what had been portrayed to Appellant as a revocation hearing. Appellant plead guilty to the revocation petition and the trial court did revoke his suspended sentence of two years. See Exhibit. (E) (F) (G) (H).

Nothing was ever said to Appellant by his attorney or the trial court that the plea he was giving, being a plea of guilty to the charge for the sale of a controlled substance in Cause No. 7754. The Honorable Stanford Young, who did represent Appellant at the revocation hearing, gave appellant the impression that he was pleading to a revocation violation. See Exhibit (E) (F) (G) (H).

During the revocation hearing, the trial court never question Appellant if he understood the charges against him, not did that court inquire if he understood what rights he was waiving by the entry of his plea. Also, Appellant did not understand that he was pleading guilty to another criminal charge, as Appellant had not been presented an indictment, and was ignorant to what his actual charge was. Neither did the trial court inform him of any charge, other than he was

pleading guilty to a revocation violation.

This was a constructive denial of counsel in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, and Article 3, section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution. Appellant's counsel never presented an indictment to Appellant. If Appellant would have been presented with an indictment, he would have pointed out to his counsel that the purported indictment that was supposedly returned by the grand jury on the 10th day of January 1984, charged that Adam Lacey/Bandigo Lacey was charged with selling a quantity of phentermine. A schedule IV controlled substance on the 22nd day of February 1984. Also, Appellant would have contested the charging, as he never had the nickname "Bandigo", and would have had his attorney to raise objections. See Exhibit (D)

The indictment was so defective in its charging, that Appellant's counsel was deficient in not filing a demurral to it. Neither did it charge Bennie Lacey, the Appellant with a crime, but rather "Bandigo Lacey", and later someone supplied two A.K.A.'s "Beno" and "Benny Lacey". So, it cannot be said that evidence was presented to the Grand Jury to formally charge Appellant with a crime. But, the evidence was to the contrary as, the indictment appeared to be fabricated. See Exhibit (D).

The indictment was also defective, as it charged a crime that had not been committed at the time it was returned by the grand jury. Appellant's attorney was clearly deficient in allowing the State to proceed against him on this fraudulent charge.

Attorney Stanford Young in his representation of Appellant, was so deficient, that in essence Appellant was totally denied any assistance from counsel. This was clearly a constructive denial of his right to counsel, so that the State obtained a criminal conviction in violation of due process. This has unconstitutionally deprived Appellant of his liberty, making the conviction

void.

Because of the fact that Appellant's prior conviction in Cause No.7754 is constitutionally infirm, then it is indicative that it was improperly used as evidence to prove that Appellant was eligible for habitual offender status. Because of this fact, his current sentence of thirty years as a habitual offender is in violation of due process.

The United States Constitution guaranteed through te Fourteenth Amendment due process and equal protection. Mississippi also by article 3, section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution recognizes this same fundamental principle. So that, citizens of the State of Mississippi may not be deprived of constitutional rights without due process of law, and that due process requires reasonable advance notice and a meaningful opportunity to be heard.

Due Process also guarantees a criminal defendant who is convicted of a crime the fundamental right to a legal sentence. From an analysis of the indictment in Cause No. 7754, could not to be said to give Appellant fair notice and how the state obtained a conviction for this crime by subterfuge, so that, Appellant has been denied his fundamental right to due process. See Exhibit (D)

Appellant asserts that to use this invalid conviction to enhance his present sentence as an habitual offender, has subjected him to an illegal sentence in violation to his fundamental right to due process. Since Appellant is suffering from a sentence enhancement that violates his fundamental due process right to a legal sentence, these issues are exempt from any procedural bars that would otherwise preclude review of his claims.

Appellant raise these issues in the Circuit Court of Wayne County, pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-39-5 (1) (I) (Rev. 2000). The trial court failed to address the issues raised by Appellant in his post-conviction by applying two procedural bars, sections 99-

39-5 (2); 99-39-23 (6). This was clearly an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court, as the right to a legal sentence involves a due process claim which is fundamental and exempt from procedural bars. See Exhibit (A).

The trial court should have reached te merits of Appellant's claims, regardless of the three-year limitation period for post-conviction relief, due to the fact of the right to be free from an illegal sentence is fundamental. It was clear from Appellant's motion and the annexed that he was laboring under an illegal habitual offender sentence, so that this claim was exempt from the time bar of section 99-39-5 (2).

Also, the trial court should have reached the merits of Appellant's post-conviction regardless of the fact that it was a successive motion. Correction of an improper sentence is a fundamental right and cannot by the motion being successive. Errors affection fundamental rights may be excepted form procedural bars.

The trial court clearly abused its discretion in applying procedural bars to deny relief on Appellant's post-conviction motion. In doing so, has deny Appellant his fundamental right to a legal sentence.

ARGUMENT

I.

INEFFECTIVE ASSISTANCE OF COUNSEL DURING THE HABITUAL OFFENDER

SENTENCING HEARING

Appellant was convicted in a jury trial, and because the state was seeking enhanced punishment as a subsequent drug offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 41-29-147, and as a habitual offender pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-19-81. A hearing was held pursuant to Rule 6.04, Mississippi Uniform Criminal Rules of Circuit Court Practice (1972).

(Now Rule 11.03, Uniform Rules of Circuit and County Court Practices) See Exhibit (B).

During the enhancement sentencing proceedings, the state produced some documents that were purported to be evidence that Appellant had been previously convicted twice before, and that he also had actually served a year or more on these two prior felony convictions. The sentencing court before accepting these documents into evidence, asked trial counsel, (who by the way, had for the first time during the sentencing hearing had viewed these documents), if trial counsel wished to raise objections to the State's presentation of these documents? Of the which, trial counsel answered: "No objections, your Honor." Tr. 306 See Exhibit (I)

This was clearly deficient performance of trial counsel, as he had failed to investigate the prior charges and prepare a defense prior to the bifurcated trial on the enhanced sentencing. It has long been held in the Courts of Mississippi that, in bifurcated trial on eligibility for enhanced punishment, a defendant has the same rights as in the principal trial. The Mississippi Supreme Court mandated in the case of Seely v. State, 451 So.2d 213 (Miss.1984), where that Court held:

"The State has the same burden of proof as to the habitual offender portion of the indictment as it has on the principal charge. The defendant also has the same rights at both stages of trial..... We wish to leave no doubt that a bifurcated trial means a full two-phase trial prior to any finding that the defendant is an habitual offender and subject to enhanced punishment." (451 So.2d at 215)

Appellant had to defend himself against these charges by the State, and the State had the burden of proof on the habitual portion of the indictment so, it was imperative that his counsel investigate these allegedly prior offenses so that a defense could be presented to these charges. But, Appellant's trial counsel had done no preparation for the bifurcated trial, and in not doing so, there was no way to put the State's evidence on these prior alleged convictions to the test.

This was not sound strategy on the part of trial counsel. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that:

“While attorneys will be granted wide discretion as to trial strategy, choosing defenses and calling witnesses, a certain amount of investigation and preparation is required.”

Davis v. State, 743 So.2d 326, 329 (Miss.1999).

If trial counsel would have investigated these alleged prior convictions, he would have discovered that the indictment in Cause No. 7754, did appear to have been altered. The indictment did not appear to have been returned by the grand jury against Bennie Lacey, the appellant. Rather, it did charge on Adam Lacey/Bandigo Lacey with the offense. See Exhibit (D)

Since Mississippi Courts follow the general rule that an identity between the name in a document and the name of the defendant creates a presumption that the two people are in fact identical, trial counsel should have objected to the names in the indictment. See, Course v. State, 461 So.2d 770, 771 (Miss.1984).

Because of the fact that the prosecution must show and prove that the records of the prior convictions are accurate, and that the defendant that is sought to be so sentenced, is indeed the person who was previously convicted. See on, Phillips v. State, 421 So.2d 476 (Miss.1982). Trial counsel should have tested the State’s evidence on this point as, it would have created a reasonable doubt that the appellant had never been indicted on this charge. This is so, because of the fact that the indictment, it did appear that this indictment had been altered by someone who had wrote in two A.K.A.’s, “Bendo” and “Benny E. Lacey”.

Article 3, Section 27 of the Mississippi Constitution guarantees the right to only be tried by indictment. If trial counsel would have properly investigated the indictment in Cause No. 7754, which had been offered as proof of a prior conviction, he would have discovered that there

is no record in the Wayne County Justice Court that Bennie E. Lacey had ever been charged in this offense. See Exhibit (J-K).

Clearly this would have shown that any conviction and sentence that may have been had on this defective indictment, and what appears on it face to be a fabricated indictment, would have been an illegal conviction and sentence. See *State v. Berryhill*, 703 So.2d 250, 253 (Miss.1997). This deficient performance of trial counsel denied appellant of his due process right to hold the State to its burden of proof on any evidence presented on the habitual offender portion of the indictment. Trial counsel's failure to investigate the alleged prior convictions to hold the State to its burden of proof, so undermined the proper function of the adversarial process that the bifurcated trial cannot be relied on as having produced a just result. See *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 686 (1984).

The Mississippi Supreme Court put forth the test that should be used to judge a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel: "(1) a deficiency of counsel's performance that is (2) sufficient to constitute prejudice." *Walker v. State*, 703 So.2d 266 (Miss.1997); *Triplett v. State*, 579 So.2d 555 (Miss.1991). Under this test, it is clearly apparent that the deficient performance of Appellant's trial counsel, allowed the State to present inadequate evidence, without objection in the bifurcated trial. Appellant has been prejudiced by his trial counsel's failure to hold the State to its burden of proof. Thus causing Appellant to be adjudicated as an habitual offender.

Under the well-established standard, "there is a reasonable probability but for counsel's unprofessional errors, the results of the proceeding would have been different. A reasonable probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland v. Washington*, 466, 694 (1984).

Appellant has met the two-prong test that was enunciated supra, so that his counsel was

not acting in the capacity as counsel that is guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment of the United States Constitution, and his comparable rights in Article 3, Section 26 to the Mississippi Constitution. Appellant's trial counsel failed to hold the State to its burden of proof on the habitual portion of the indictment. This did deny Appellant of his due process right to effective representation at the bifurcated trial.

If trial counsel would have held the State to its burden of proof on the alleged prior conviction in Cause No. 7754, it is more likely than not, that the trial court would have rejected the State's proof as inadequate to prove that Appellant was an habitual offender. Thus the outcome would have been different, because of the fact that the trial could not have adjudicated Appellant as an habitual offender. See on United States v. Franks, 230 F.3d 811, 815 (5th Cir. 2000).

II.

APPELLANT'S PRESENT HABITUAL SENTENCE IS INVALID BECAUSE OF AN UN-COUNSELED AND UNCONSTITUTIONAL PRIOR CONVICTION

Appellant's prior conviction in Cause No. 7754, sale of a controlled substance, is invalid, because he was denied his right to the effective assistance of counsel. Trial counsel did mislead Appellant on the nature of the proceedings of which he had entered his plea of guilty. The appellant was lead to believe that he was going to a revocation hearing when, in fact, Appellant was pleading guilty to the charge in Cause No. 7754. See Exhibit (D).

It has long been held that in a guilty plea context, that a defendant has the right to the effective assistance of counsel. See McMann v. Richardson, 397 U.S. 759, 771 (1970). Clearly from the facts set forth infra, appellant was in essence, totally denied any assistance of counsel in the entry of his plea of guilty.

Trial counsel did not tell the appellant that he was entering a plea of guilty to the charge of sale of a controlled substance. But rather, that he was pleading to the revocation of his sentence on burglary and larceny. A revocation hearing is totally different from a hearing on a plea of guilty. In the context of the guilty plea hearing. A defendant is informed by the trial court of the rights that the plea waives, the nature and consequences of the act he contemplates, and any other relevant facts and circumstances before the defendant is allowed to enter his plea. See Vittitoe v. State, 556 So.2d 1062 (Miss. 1990).

In the case subjudice, the trial court did not inform Appellant what was actually happening, that in the revocation hearing he was pleading guilty to a whole new charge, and not just pleading to the revocation charge. Neither did the trial court inform the appellant that by the entry of his plea that, he was waiving his basic fundamental constitutional rights. Neither did the trial court inform appellant of the charge that he was entering a plea of guilty on. See Exhibit (E) (F).

By the trial court's failure to inform Appellant of the rights that he was waiving by pleading guilty, then there was not an affirmative expression that the appellant had waived those rights. See Horton v. State, 584 So.2d 764 (Miss.1991).

Furthermore, since Appellant had not been presented with an indictment, he did not know the elements of the charge to which he was pleading guilty. This was one of the constituent requirements that had to be determined in making the pleas of guilty. This caused any plea of guilty to be so constitutionally infirm, that Appellant had been denied his right to due process. Since the trial court failed to make a record of the proceedings, it cannot be said that the appellant's pleas was within the perimeter of the constitution. See Wilson v. State, 577 So.2d 394 (Miss. 1991).

Clearly this was a constructive denial of counsel as defined by the United States Supreme Court in Cuyler v. Sullivan, 446 U.S. 335 (1980). It cannot be said that Appellant had counsel at all. If counsel was acting as counsel as guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment, he would have presented his client a copy of the indictment, that being this Appellant. If trial counsel would have done so, Appellant would have pointed out to counsel, that he had never been known as "Bandigo", so that the indictment did not properly charge his. Also, that the indictment, was purported to have been returned on January 10, 1984, a month or more after the indictment was returned by the grand jury.

The indictment was fatally defective in the charging, so that Appellant's trial counsel was deficient in failing to file a demurral to the indictment. Of the which, Appellant would have requested that his counsel to do so, had he had an opportunity to view the indictment.

Appellant's trial counsel was so deficient in the prior conviction, that it was a structural defect on the par within which the trial proceeds and involved basic protections without which a criminal trial cannot reliably serve its function. This was a constructive denial of counsel, and was in violation of the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution, as well as his comparable rights pursuant to Article 3, Section 26 of the Mississippi Constitution.

This structural defect in the context of the guilty plea in Cause No. 7754, was the denial of effective assistance of counsel. So that, the Sixth Amendment mandates that the State bear the risk of constitutionally deficient assistance of counsel. See Evitts v. Lucey, 469 U.S. 387, 396 (1985).

Because of the structural defect in the prior conviction, the State obtained a criminal conviction in violation of due process, and has in reality unconstitutionally deprived appellant of his liberty, thus making the un-counseled prior conviction void.

Because the unconstitutional prior conviction in Cause No. 7754 was used as evidence to prove Appellant guilty as a habitual offender in his present conviction, he is in “custody” and that prior conviction is open to collateral attack. He was convicted in the prior proceeding in violation of Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 335 (1963), so that his prior is subject to collateral proceedings. See Nichols v. U.S., 511 U.S. 738, 765 (1994); Also, Allen v. Collins, 924 F.2d **, 89 (5th Cir. 1991).

Appellant’s current sentence as a habitual offender is in violation of due process, because of a constitutionally infirm prior conviction. So that, his sentence of 30 years as a habitual offender pursuant to Section 99-19-81 of the Mississippi Code, should be vacated as a matter of law.

Appellant should be re-sentenced to 30 years as a non-habitual offender, eligible for parole and good-time credits. That the Court should find that the sentencing court was in error using the unconstitutional prior conviction to enhance his present conviction in Cause No. 8343. See Lay v. State, 310 So.2d 908 (Miss.1975); Also, Usry v. State, 378 So.2d 635, (Miss. 1979).

III.

APPELLANT’S CURRENT SENTENCE AS A HABITUAL OFFENDER IS AN ILLEGAL SENTENCE AND EXEMPT FROM PROCEDURAL BARS

The United States Constitution guarantees through the Fourteenth Amendment due process and equal protection. The State of Mississippi also by Article 3, Section 14 of the Mississippi Constitution recognizes this same fundamental principle. The Mississippi Supreme Court has long held that a defendant has a fundamental due process right to a legal sentence. See, Lockett v. State, 582 So.2d 428 (Miss. 1991). The Mississippi Supreme Court has also held that the trial court should also entertain a motion for post-conviction relief in which a petitioner claims he was

illegally sentenced, regardless of three year limitation period for post-conviction relief, as the right to be free from an illegal sentence is a fundamental right and is excepted from procedural bars. See, Ethridge v. State, 800 So.2d 1221 (Miss.2001).

Appellant's post-conviction motion raises the claim that his current sentence as a habitual offender is an illegal sentence, because of the fact that the State used an un-counseled prior guilty plea conviction to enhance his current sentence.

Appellant also has shown that he has a fundamental right to be free from an illegal sentence. See, Alexander v. State, 879 So.2d 512, 514 (Miss.Ct. App.2004). Accordingly, the procedural bars of the Post-Conviction Collateral Relief Act do not prohibit consideration of his claim of an illegal sentence. See, Graves v. State, 822 So.2d 1089, 1091 (Miss.Ct.App.2002).

The issues that the appellant did raise in his post-conviction motion, requires that this court should reverse the trial court's denial of his motion and remand back to that court for an evidentiary hearing. See, Washington v. State, 620 So.2d 966, 967 (Miss.1993). Or in the alternative, remand Appellant's case back to the trial court for the correction of an improper illegal sentence. See, Sneed v. State, 722 So.2d 1257 (Miss.1998).

IV.

TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION BY APPLYING PROCEDURAL BARS TO DENY RELIEF ON APPELLANT'S POST CONVICTION MOTION

Appellant had raised his claims of ineffective assistance of counsel and illegal sentence in the Circuit Court of Wayne County, pursuant to Mississippi Code Ann. Section 99-39-5 (2) and the successive writ bar of Section 99-39-23 (6) to deny relief of Appellant's post-conviction motion. See Exhibit (A).

This was an abuse of discretion on the part of the trial court in the failure to reach the

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