**IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**BENNIE LACY**

**APPELLANT**

**VS.**

**NO. 2008-CP-0917**

**STATE OF MISSISSIPPI**

**APPELLEE**

**MOTION TO DISMISS APPEAL  
OR IN THE ALTERNATIVE,  
BRIEF FOR APPELLEE**

**APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT**

**JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL**

**BY: STEPHANIE B. WOOD  
SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
MISSISSIPPI BAR NO [REDACTED]**

**OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL  
POST OFFICE BOX 220  
JACKSON, MS 39205-0220  
TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680**

##

**STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

On January 10, 1984, the Appellant, Bennie Lacy, was indicted for the sale of cocaine. (Record p. 46). He was tried, convicted, and sentenced as a habitual offender to thirty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. (Record p. 47 and 82). The Mississippi Supreme Court affirmed his conviction and sentence on February 17, 1994. *See Lacy v. State*, 632 So.2d 958 (Miss. 1994).

Since then, Lacy has petitioned the Supreme Court numerous times for leave to file a motion for post-conviction relief with the trial court and each time was denied. (Record p. 98 - 99). Nonetheless, Lacy filed a motion to vacate illegal sentence with the Wayne County Circuit Court on March 6, 2008. (Record p. 6).<sup>1</sup> The trial court denied Lacy's motion on May 8, 2008. (Record p. 98- 99). Lacy appeals this decision.

**SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

This Court lacks jurisdiction to hear this appeal as the Appellant was denied leave to proceed with his motion for post conviction relief in the trial court. However, if this Court overrules the State's motion to dismiss appeal, the State of Mississippi alternatively contends that the trial court properly denied Lacy's motion for post conviction relief as it was time barred and successive writ barred.

---

1

Clerk's Docket No. 2004 - M -02336 indicates that Lacy's latest attempt to obtain leave to file in the trial court was also denied. On November 30, 2006, he filed an "application for leave to file successive motion for post conviction collateral relief on intervening decision" and said application was denied by the Court on January 11, 2006.

## ARGUMENT

### A. MOTION TO DISMISS APPEAL

The State of Mississippi respectfully asserts that this appeal should be dismissed as the Appellant was not granted leave by the Mississippi Supreme Court to file the motion for post conviction relief which is the subject of this appeal. Mississippi Code Annotated §99-39-7 states as follows in this regard:

The motion under this article shall be filed as an original civil action in the trial court, except in cases in which the prisoner's conviction and sentence have been appealed to the supreme court of Mississippi and there affirmed or the appeal dismissed. Where the conviction and sentence have been affirmed on appeal or the appeal has been dismissed, the motion under this article shall not be filed in the trial court until the motion shall have first been presented to a quorum of the justices of the supreme court of Mississippi, convened for said purpose . . . and an order granted allowing the filing of such motion in the trial court. . . .

As the Appellant was denied leave to proceed in the trial court, this appeal should be dismissed. *See Crosby v. State*, 982 So.2d 1003 (Miss. Ct. App. 2008); *Robinson v. State*, 968 So.2d 981 (Miss. Ct. App. 2007); *Jackson v. State*, 915 So.2d 484 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005); and *Epps v. State*, 837 So.2d 243 (Miss. Ct. App. 2003). Thus, the State of Mississippi requests that this Honorable Court dismiss Appellant's appeal.

### B. BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Without waiving or compromising the State's foregoing contention that the trial court did not have proper jurisdiction to hear Appellant's motion for post conviction relief and therefore that this appeal should be dismissed, the State of Mississippi also submits the following arguments on the merits of Lacy's appeal.

**THE TRIAL JUDGE PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR POST CONVICTION RELIEF AS IT WAS TIME BARRED AND SUCCESSIVE WRIT BARRED.**

Lacy raises the following issues on appeal: (1) “ineffective assistance of counsel during the habitual offender sentencing hearing”; (2) “Appellant’s present habitual sentence is invalid because of an un-counseled and unconstitutional prior conviction”; (3) “Appellant’s current sentence as a habitual offender is an illegal sentence and exempt from procedural bars”; and (4) “Trial court abused its discretion by applying procedural bars to deny relief on appellant’s post conviction motion.” (Appellant’s Brief p. iv). However, these issues are time barred.

Mississippi Code Annotated §99-39-5(2) states in pertinent part as follows:

A motion for relief under this article shall be made within three (3) years after the time in which the prisoner’s direct appeal is ruled upon by the Supreme Court of Mississippi or, in case no appeal is taken, within three (3) years after the time for taking an appeal from the judgment of conviction or sentence has expired, or in case of a guilty plea, within three (3) years after the entry of the judgment or conviction. Excepted from this three-year statute of limitations are those cases in which the prisoner can demonstrate either that there has been an intervening decision of the Supreme Court of the State of Mississippi or the United States which would have actually adversely affected the outcome of his conviction or sentence or that he has evidence, not reasonably discoverable at the time of trial, which is of such nature that it would be practically conclusive that had such been introduced at trial it would have caused a different result in the conviction or sentence. Likewise excepted are those cases in which a prisoner claims that his sentence has expired or his probation, parole, or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked. . . .

Lacey claims that the time bar should not apply to his case noting that “the three-year constitutional limitation for moving for post-conviction relief is irrelevant if a fundamental constitutional right is involved” and that “the right to a legal sentence is fundamental.” (Appellant’s Brief p. 16).

However, this Court has previously held the following with regard to a similar claim:

However, past precedent regarding the fundamental right to be free from an illegal sentence does not provide a “back door” method for raising an untimely

post-conviction relief claim . . . . An illegal sentence in this context is one which exceeds the statutory maximum. *House v. State*, 754 So.2d 1147, 1150 (Miss.1999).

*Brown v. State*, 923 So.2d 258, 260 (Miss. Ct. App. 2006). Lacy's sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum. He was sentenced to thirty years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections as a habitual offender according to Mississippi Code Annotated §99-19-81 which states as follows:

Every person convicted in this state of a felony who shall have been convicted twice previously of any felony or federal crime upon charges separately brought and arising out of separate incidents at different times and who shall have been sentenced to separate terms of one (1) year or more in any state and/or federal penal institution, whether in this state or elsewhere, shall be sentenced to the maximum term of imprisonment prescribed for such felony, and such sentence shall not be reduced to suspended nor shall such person be eligible for parole or probation.

*(Emphasis added)*. Lacy was convicted under Mississippi Code Annotated §41-29-139 which provides that the maximum term of imprisonment for his felony is thirty years. As set forth above, Lacy was sentenced to serve thirty years without the possibility of parole. As §99-19-81 requires that the Appellant receive the maximum term of imprisonment without parole or probation, the Appellant's sentence does not exceed the statutory maximum and therefore is not exempt from the time bar. Thus, the trial judge properly denied Lacy relief as his motion was time barred.

Lacy's Motion for Post Conviction Relief is also successive writ barred. Mississippi Code Annotated §99-39-23(6) reads in pertinent part as follows:

The order as provided in subsection (5) of this section or any order dismissing the prisoner's motion or otherwise denying relief under this article is a final judgment and shall be conclusive until reversed. It shall be a bar to a second or successive motion under this article. . . . Likewise excepted from this prohibition are those cases in which the prisoner can demonstrate either that there has been an intervening decision of the Supreme Court of either the State of Mississippi or the United States which would have actually adversely affected the outcome of his conviction or sentence or that he had evidence, not reasonably discoverable at the time of trial,

which is of such nature that it would have caused a different result in the conviction or sentence. Likewise are those cases where the prisoner claims that his sentence has expired or his probation, parole or conditional release has been unlawfully revoked.

As set forth above, Lacy has filed numerous applications with the Mississippi Supreme Court requesting leave to proceed with a motion for post conviction relief in the trial court and each has been denied. Thus, he is also successive writ barred. *See Lawson v. State*, 748 So.2d 96, 98 (Miss.1999). Accordingly, the trial judge properly denied the Appellant's motion for post conviction relief as it was also successive writ barred.